

THE ASSOCIATION FOR RESOURCE MANAGEMENT PRACTITIONERS

Te Kahui Ture Taiao

PAPER FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – 22 SEPTEMBER 2018

NOTICE OF PROPOSED CHANGES TO RMLA CONSTITUTION

1. INTRODUCTION

During this year, the National Committee of the Resource Management Law Association ("RMLA") tasked a sub-committee to consider changes to the rules of the Association ("Rules"), in order to more clearly provide for the ability to remove members from the National Committee ("NC") and / or the wider Association. On 30 July 2018, the NC formally resolved to propose a number of specific amendments to the Rules to be notified for approval at the Annual General Meeting on 22 September 2018 in accordance with Clause 19 of the Rules.

2. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS

The Rules currently provide for the NC to prescribe conditions of membership from time to time (Rule 6.3). A member is deemed to have agreed to "further the object of the Association and be bound by and observe these Rules" (Rule 6.4).

2.1 Expulsion of Members or removal from the NC is provided for as follows:

- (a) **Members of the Association:** Expulsion by unanimous resolution of the NC if the Member's conduct is considered to be "detrimental to the interests or reputation of the Association", with a right of appeal to the NC (Rule 7.1.4);
- (b) **Members of the NC:** Removal from office by resolution of the Association (by majority vote at a general meeting) (Rules 9.5.3 and 16.11). No particular reason is required. However, this does not result in expulsion from the Association unless this also occurs under Rule 7.1.4 described above.

NC Recommendation - Expulsion of Members:

- (a) We recommend expanding the list of matters which a Member is deemed to have agreed to in Rule 6.4, by including "to uphold the reputation of the Association", and aligning this with the ground of expulsion for Members in Rule 7.1.4 (by cross-referencing the matters in Rule 6.4) thereby providing a clear foundation for expulsion on this basis.
- (b) We also recommend changing the process for removing Members. It may be difficult to achieve a unanimous resolution of the National Committee, particularly when concerning potentially emotive and polarising matters such as proposed expulsion of members. We therefore recommend providing for removal of a Member by a 75%

majority of the NC where the ground for expulsion under Rule 7.1.4 has been made out. Based on current numbers, this would require 8 of the 11 members to vote in favour of removal. A 10 person committee (the standard number) would still require 7 votes in favour and avoid the need for the President's casting vote.

(c) We recommend retaining the right of appeal to the NC from a decision of the NC to expel a Member but amended to clarify that the decision of the NC on the appeal shall also be by a 75% vote. Failure to uphold the expulsion on appeal would result in the Member being reinstated. If a NC member themselves is being considered for expulsion they would not be entitled to vote.

2.2 Removal from Office

Currently the process for removing members of the NC is cumbersome (requiring a general meeting of the Association) and does not allow for swift or confidential action where this may be necessary to manage reputational risk. Nor does it provide any grounds for removal or right of appeal.

NC Recommendation - Removal from Office:

- (a) We recommend aligning the grounds and procedure for removing members of the NC with those of removing Members from the Association under Rule 7.1.4. This would enable removal by 75% majority vote of the NC provided there has been a breach of Rule 6.4. The process also provides for an appeal as explained above.
- (b) The proposed amendments clarify that it is possible to remove someone from the NC without expelling them from the Association. Depending on the nature of the conduct, this might be appropriate. There is also the ability to remove them from both.
- 2.3 The proposed amendments to the Rules are shown in the context of the existing rules attached as **Appendix A**. They would be approved upon two thirds of those present (and entitled to vote) at the Annual General Meeting on 22 September 2018 voting to approve them.
- 2.4 Against that background, I will <u>move</u> at the 2018 AGM that the Rule changes shown (in tracked change) in Appendix A attached be approved.

Mary Hill

Secretary

24 August 2018

APPENDIX A

AMENDMENT TO THE RULES OF RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LAW ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND INCORPORATED

DATED 22 SEPTEMBER 2014

AMENDMENT TO THE

RULES OF

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LAW ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND INCORPORATED

Rachel Devine
President
Mary Hill
Secretary
Kim Hardy
Treasurer

CONTENTS

<u>Clause</u>	<u>Heading</u>	Page No.
1.	Name	1
2.	Registered Office	1
3.	Interpretation	1
4.	Objects	2
5.	Activities and Powers	2
6.	Membership	4
7.	Cessation of Membership	5
8.	Fees, Subscriptions and Levies	5
9.	National Committee	5
10.	Powers of National Committee	7
11.	Proceedings of National Committee and Election of Officers	8
12.	Duties of Secretary	10
13.	Duties of Treasurer	10
14.	Executive Officer	11
15.	Auditor	11
16.	General Meetings	11
17.	Postal Ballot	13
18.	Common Seal	14
19.	Alteration of Rules	14
20.	Winding Up	15
21.	Service of Notices	15
22.	Indemnity	15

RULES OF THE RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LAW ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND INCORPORATED

1. NAME

The name of the society shall be the **RESOURCE MANAGEMENT LAW ASSOCIATION OF NEW ZEALAND INCORPORATED** (the "Association")

2. **REGISTERED OFFICE**

- 2.1 The registered office of the Association shall be situated at such place within New Zealand as the Committee hereinafter constituted shall from time to time determine.
- 2.2 The Secretary shall notify the Registrar of Incorporated Societies in accordance with the Incorporated Societies Act 1908 whenever the situation of the registered office is changed.
- 2.3 As of the date of the registering of these Rules, the registered office of the Association is Kingstone Cox Chartered Accountants Limited, Level 1, 7 Falcon Street, Parnell, Auckland 1052.

3. **INTERPRETATION**

In these rules the following words shall have the following meanings, unless the context shall otherwise require:

"National Committee" means the National Committee of the Association appointed in accordance with Rule 9;

"Members" means the signatories and persons referred to in Rule 6.1;

"President" means the chairperson of the National Committee elected in accordance with Rule 11.3;

"Resource Management Law" means the Resource Management Act 1991 and any other enactment or proposal concerning:

- (a) Ecosystems and their constituent parts, including people and communities; and
- (b) All natural and physical resources; and
- (c) Amenity values; and
- (d) The social, economic, aesthetic and cultural conditions which affect the matters stated in paragraphs (a) to (c) of this definition or which are affected by those matters.

"Secretary" means the secretary of the Association appointed in accordance with clause 11.3.

"Working Day" shall have the same meaning as in the Resource Management Act 1991 or any Act amending it or in substitution of it.

4. OBJECT

- 4.1 The object of the Association shall be to promote within New Zealand:
 - 4.1.1 An understanding of resource management law and its implementation and multidisciplinary framework;
 - 4.1.2 Excellence in resource management policy and practice;
 - 4.1.3 Resource management processes which are legally sound, effective and efficient and which produce high quality environmental outcomes.

5. ACTIVITIES AND POWERS

- 5.1 For the purpose of attaining the object as set out in Rule 4.1, the Association may engage in the following activities:
 - 5.1.1 provide a forum for and otherwise promote the discussion, consideration and advancement of resource management law;
 - 5.1.2 undertake, provide facilities for and encourage research into resource management law for the advancement of the understanding of resource management law;
 - 5.1.3 acquire, disseminate and provide facilities for the acquisition and dissemination of knowledge of international and comparative law in relation to resource management law;
 - 5.1.4 gather information in respect of, and consider any resource management law;
 - 5.1.5 convene and hold seminars, lectures and conferences in relation to resource management law;
 - 5.1.6 produce, publish and distribute reports, journals, books papers and other informative material in relation to resource management law;
 - 5.1.7 encourage and develop awareness, discussion and consideration of resource management law amongst the legal and planning professions, other consultants and the community at large in New Zealand;
 - 5.1.8 grant, give and make available money and facilities to any individual, trust, corporation or authority or with the Government of New Zealand or of any city, district or region thereof where, in any such case, the money or facilities will only be applied for purposes consistent with the object of the Association.
- 5.2 The Association may do all such acts, matters and things and may enter into and make such agreements as are incidental or conducive to the carrying out the object of the Association, and in particular, the Association may:
 - 5.2.1 purchase, organise, conduct, maintain or manage such amenities, facilities and services as the National Committee considers to be appropriate;

- 5.2.2 liaise, consult, work in conjunction and make arrangements with any individuals, trusts, corporations, foundations, firms partnership, associations, societies, institutions, organisations and authorities, and with the government of New Zealand or of any city, district or region thereof;
- 5.2.3 execute and deliver any deed or document whatsoever which may be required or seem expedient to be executed by the Association;
- 5.2.4 apply for and acquire any licences or permits deemed necessary by the National Committee;
- 5.2.5 sell, exchange, improve, lease, hire, mortgage, dispose, invest, reserve, or otherwise deal with or turn to account, any real or personal property of the Association and borrow with or without security;
- 5.2.6 solicit, receive, enlist and accept financial and other support from individuals, trusts, corporations, foundations, firms, partnerships, associations, societies, institutions, organisations and authorities and from the government of New Zealand or of any city, district or region thereof;
- 5.2.7 organise, assist in and co-ordinate the raising of funds by any lawful means;
- 5.2.8 pay and employ such person, persons or body corporate for such duties relating to the object of the Association on such terms as the National Committee shall think fit; and
- 5.2.9 receive and accept gifts and donations and to deal with or apply such gifts and donations in such manner as the National Committee shall from time to time decide.
- 5.3 The income and property of the Association shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its object as set forth in Rule 4.1.

NO PRIVATE PECUNIARY PROFIT FOR ANY INDIVIDUAL, AND EXCEPTIONS

- 5.4 **No private pecuniary profit**: No private pecuniary profit may be made by any person from the Association, except that:
 - (a) Any member, officer or servant of the Association may receive full reimbursement for all expenses properly incurred by that member, officer or servant in connection with the affairs of the Association;
 - (b) The Association may pay reasonable remuneration to any member, officer or servant of the Association in return for services actually rendered to the Association;
 - (c) Any member, officer or servant of the Association may be paid all usual professional, business or trade charges for services rendered, time expended and all acts done by that member, officer or servant, or by any firm or entity of which that member, officer or servant is a member, employee or associate in connection with the affairs of the Association.

5.5 **National Committee to comply with restrictions**: The National Committee, in determining all reimbursements, remuneration and charges payable in the terms of this clause, shall ensure that the restrictions imposed by the following clause are strictly observed.

RESTRICTIONS ON BENEFITS TO AND INFLUENCE BY INTERESTED PERSONS

- 5.6 **Recipient not to influence benefits**: Notwithstanding anything contained or implied in these Rules, any person who is:
 - (a) a member or officer of the Association;
 - (b) a settlor or trustee of any trust by which any business of the Association is carried on;
 - (c) a shareholder or director of any company carrying on any business of the Association; or
 - (d) a settlor or trustee of any trust which is a shareholder of any company carrying on any business of the Association; or
 - (e) an associated person (as defined by the Income Tax Act 2007) of any such member, officer, settlor, trustee, shareholder or director;

shall not by virtue of that capacity in any way (whether directly or indirectly) determine, or materially influence in any way the determination of the nature or the amount of any benefit or advantage or income or the circumstances in which it is or is to be received, gained, achieved, afforded or derived by that person.

5.7 **Professional account and influence**: A person who is in the course of and as part of the carrying on of his or her business of a professional public practice shall not, by reason only of his or her rendering professional services to the Association or to any trust or company by which any business of the Association is carried on, be in breach of the terms of this clause.

6 MEMBERSHIP

- 6.1 The members of the Association shall be the signatories to these Rules together with those other persons who apply for membership and whose membership is confirmed under Rule 6.2.
- 6.2 All applications for membership shall be made by natural persons in writing to the Executive Officer and accompanied by the application fee and shall be in such form and contain such information as the National Committee may from time to time prescribe. Upon confirmation of membership by the Executive Officer, the applicant, if he or she complies with all qualifications and conditions specified by the National Committee pursuant to Rule 6.4, if any, shall be deemed to be a member of the Association.
- 6.3 The National Committee may from time to time set down qualifications and conditions of membership and provide for other classes of membership.
- Any person admitted as a member pursuant to these Rules shall be deemed to have agreed to:
 - (a) further the object of the Association; and to
 - (b) be bound by and observe these Rules;-and
 - (c) uphold the reputation of the Association.

6.5 Upon the recommendation of the National Committee, the members may elect at a general meeting a person who has rendered outstanding service to the Association or to the promotion of resource management law to Honorary Membership. An honorary member shall have the same rights and duties as members but shall not be liable for membership or any other fee.

7 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP

- 7.1 Membership of the Association may be terminated by:
 - 7.1.1 the member, by giving not less than fourteen days notice in writing to the National Committee; or
 - 7.1.2 a member failing to pay any fee, subscription or levy assessed by the National Committee within the prescribed time; or
 - 7.1.3 resolution of the National Committee, if either the criteria for membership or the member's ability to meet the criteria (as determined by the National Committee under Rule 6.4) change in such a way as to make the member no longer eligible; or
 - 7.1.4 a vote of seventy five percent unanimous resolution—of the National Committee to expel a member whose conduct shall be determined by the National Committee m (by vote in accordance with this Rule) to breach the matters agreed to by the Member in Rule 6.4 be detrimental to the interests or reputation of the Association, in which case the member expelled shall be entitled to appeal that decision in writing or in person at the next meeting of the National Committee and if so appealed the National Committee will have a discretion either to reinstate the member or to confirm the expulsion (such decision shall also be made by a vote of seventy five percent) and if the original decision to expel is not confirmed the member is thereby reinstated. If a National Committee member is being considered for expulsion in accordance with this Rule, that person shall not have the right to participate in any decisions made by the National Committee pursuant to this Rule.
- 7.2 Termination of membership shall not relieve the member from liability for fees, subscriptions, levies or other liabilities which have been incurred or arisen prior to termination.

8 FEES, SUBSCRIPTIONS AND LEVIES

- 8.1 Each member shall pay to the Association any subscription fee or levy which may be determined and set by the National Committee from time to time in the manner and mode determined by the National Committee. All membership fees shall be due and payable on the first day of October in each year or on such other date as may be determined by the National Committee.
- 8.2 The National Committee may, in addition to fees, subscription and levies referred to above, make a levy on any member for whose benefit or upon whose behalf the Association shall have agreed to incur any obligation. The amount and time of payment of such levy shall be fixed by the National Committee by unanimous resolution.
- 8.3 The National Committee reserves the right to determine the extent of refunds to members on cessation of membership.

9 NATIONAL COMMITTEE

- 9.1 The affairs of the Association shall be administered by the National Committee. The National Committee shall consist of ten members to be elected from and by the members of the Association at each Annual General Meeting, or appointed in accordance with this Rule 9, or by postal ballot in accordance with Rule 17.
- 9.2 Only members may be nominated as National Committee members. Nominations for membership of the National Committee shall be made in writing by a member, seconded by another member endorsed with the written consent of the nominee and delivered to the Secretary no later than 10 working days before the Annual General Meeting.
 - 9.2.2 If the numbers of nominations received for membership of the National Committee is equal to or less than ten, then all the members nominated shall be elected to the National Committee.
 - 9.2.3 In the event of there being fewer than ten nominations, nominations will be called from those attending at the Annual General Meeting.
 - 9.2.4 If the number of nominations received for membership of the National Committee is greater than the number of positions on the National Committee then a vote shall be taken to elect the National Committee of all members present in person, or represented by proxy at the Annual General Meeting.
 - 9.2.5 From the nominations there shall be elected a representative from each of these areas:
 - Auckland;
 - Waikato/Bay of Plenty;
 - Wellington;
 - Canterbury;
 - Otago/Southland.

By "areas" is meant the local government regions as follows:

- Auckland Northland/Auckland
- Wellington Wellington/Wanganui-Manawatu/Taranaki/Hawkes Bay
- Canterbury Nelson-Marlborough/Canterbury/Westcoast
- Waikato/Bay of Plenty Waikato/Bay of Plenty
- Otago/Southland Otago/Southland

Where there is no nomination from any one of these areas there may be co-opted by the incoming Committee a representative for that area or areas - (refer Rule 10.1.8).

Where there is only one nominee from any one of these areas then that person shall be deemed to be elected to the Committee.

Where there is more than one nominee from an area, the highest polling nominee shall be deemed to represent that area.

Having provided for representation from each area, in terms of the nominations made, or after allowing for one co-opted person to represent each area for which there is no nominee, the five next highest polling nominees shall be elected on to the Committee.

For the avoidance of doubt, the requirement as to regional repesentation shall prevail over Rule 9.4A below, and to the effect that a two year tenure for any given member elected for the first time cannot be guaranteed if it would mean a region (one of the "areas") is not represented on the Committee.

This Committee shall be called the National Committee.

9.3 From the date of incorporation until first election of the National Committee in 1993 pursuant to Rule 9.2 the members of the National Committee shall be the following members:

Mr Peter Salmon QC
Mr Derek Nolan
Mr Ian Cowper
Ms Rebecca Middleton
Mr Rob Fisher
Ms Adrienne Young-Cooper
Mr Phil Mitchell
Dr Judith Collins

- 9.4 Subject to clause 9.4A hereof, the term of office for each National Committee member shall be from the date of appointment until the following next ensuing Annual General Meeting. Any retiring National Committee member shall (subject to these Rules) be eligible for nomination and re-election.
- 9.4A Subject to Rule 9.2.5, but notwithstanding Rule 9.4 hereof, the term of office of any National Committee member elected on to the National Committee for the first time or after a period exceeding three years from their last term as National Committee member, shall be from the date of appointment until the Annual General Meeting in the second year following their appointment (to provide for a two year term).
- 9.5 The office of a member of the National Committee shall be vacant:
 - 9.5.1 if the member absents himself or herself without leave of the National Committee from two consecutive meetings of the National Committee;
 - 9.5.2 if the member shall resign by notice in writing to the National Committee;
 - 9.5.3 <u>if the member is expelled from office on any of the grounds, and in accordance</u> with the process, provided for in Rule 7.1.4; if the Association in general meeting shall pass a resolution removing the member from office;
 - 9.5.4 if the member otherwise ceases to be a member of the Association; or
 - 9.5.5 upon death of the member.
- 9.6 For the avoidance of doubt, a member may be expelled from their office on the National Committee without also being expelled from the Association.

9.76 Should a vacancy arise during the term of office of any member of the National Committee, the National Committee may appoint any person to fill any such vacancy until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

10. POWERS OF NATIONAL COMMITTEE

- 10.1 Without in any way limiting or restricting the generality of the power to administer the affairs of the Association, the National Committee may, at its discretion and upon and subject to such terms and conditions as it thinks fit:
 - 10.1.1 purchase, take on lease, or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any real and personal property and erect, alter, improve, maintain, furnish and equip land and buildings for the purposes of the Association;
 - invest and deal with the funds of the Association not immediately required for the carrying out of the objects of the Association in or upon mortgage of real estate in New Zealand or upon deposit in any bank carrying on business in New Zealand or in or upon New Zealand Government securities or any other investments that are authorised by the law of New Zealand for the investment of trust funds;
 - 10.1.3 sell, exchange, lease, bail or otherwise deal with or dispose of any real or personal property of the Association;
 - 10.1.4 borrow or raise amounts of money not exceeding \$5,000 at any time either by bank overdraft or otherwise and secure the repayment thereof by the issue of mortgage, bonds, debentures or any other security over all or any of the Association's property;
 - 10.1.5 apply the funds of the Association for the purpose of carrying out in whole or in part the objects of the Association or any of them or in any other manner from time to time authorised by the Association in general meeting;
 - 10.1.6 engage professional services and employ such administrative, secretarial or other staff as may from time to time be necessary to carry out the objects of the Association and pay salaries, wages or honorariums to persons employed by the Association and to the officers of the Association.
 - 10.1.7 set the application fee for membership;
 - 10.1.8 in addition to the specific powers of co-option in clause 9.2.5, the National Committee may also co-opt members onto the National Committee as ex-officio members of it from time to time as and when the need arises;
 - 10.1.9 establish Special Interest Groups and sub committees to consider specific issues as and when the need arises;
 - 10.1.10 establish area committees in Wellington, Christchurch, Dunedin or any other centre where the National Committee is of the view that either the local membership or that local or regional issues indicate a need or desirability for such a committee. The National Committee shall decide whether such area committee(s) shall operate as an autonomous committee (in which case the

provisions of Rules 9-13 shall apply to that area committee as if it was the National Committee) or as a sub-committee reporting to the National Committee (in which case the National Committee shall decide the applicable rules);

- 10.1.11 if one or more area committees are established, form a National Committee to administer the national affairs of the Association.
- 10.2 The National Committee may not spend any more than 40% of its annual expected gross income on any one item without obtaining the approval of members at a general meeting.

11. PROCEEDINGS OF NATIONAL COMMITTEE AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS

- 11.1 A quorum of five members of the National Committee shall be required to be present in person or by proxy at any meeting of the National Committee before any business can be dealt with. Meetings may be in person or by way of telephone conference or other similar media for communication. Each member of the National Committee shall have one vote. Questions arising at any such meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes unless otherwise required by these Rules. In case of an equality of votes, the President shall be entitled to a casting vote in addition to his or her own deliberative vote.
- 11.2 A resolution entered in the minute book of the National Committee and approved in writing by all members of the National Committee shall be valid and effectual as if passed at a meeting properly called.
- 11.3 The National Committee shall at its first meeting after the Annual General Meeting of the Association in each year elect a President from amongst its number and shall also appoint other persons to be Secretary and Treasurer of the Association until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting. From the date of incorporation until the National Committee meeting following the first appointment of National Committee members pursuant to Rule 9 Peter Salmon QC shall be the President, Rebecca Middleton shall be the Secretary and Phil Mitchell shall be the Treasurer.
- During the period between the Annual General Meeting and the first meeting of the National Committee after such Annual General Meeting, the President, Secretary and Treasurer of the Association shall be the persons holding those offices immediately prior to such Annual General Meeting provided that, in the case of the President, if such person is not re-elected or re-appointed to the National Committee then the person to the National Committee who has served on the National Committee for the longest period of time shall be the President during the said period.
- 11.4A Notwithstanding Clause 11.4 hereof, the persons holding the position of the President, Secretary and Treasurer of the Association shall not be eligible to hold that position beyond the Annual General Meeting in the second year following their appointment (to provide for a two year term for each office position). The National Committee may resolve to allow the position of Secretary and Treasurer to be held by the same person for longer than two years (but for no longer than (a total of) four years for that person in either position).
- 11.5 Every National Committee member shall be entitled to appoint a proxy to represent him or her at any meeting of the National Committee. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor and must be received by the Secretary prior to the time of the relevant meeting. A proxy must be a member of the National Committee.

- 11.6 No proceeding of the National Committee shall be invalid due to there being a vacancy or vacancies in the number of members on the National Committee.
- 11.7 Seven clear days notice shall be given of all meetings of the National Committee except in the case of special urgency, shorter notice may be given if no objection is raised by any member of the National Committee. No notice need be given to any member of the National Committee absent from New Zealand.
- 11.8 The National Committee may make such rules, regulations and by-laws (not inconsistent with these Rules) for the conduct of its business and the general management and control of the affairs of the Association as it considers necessary, provided that any such rule, regulation or by-law may be rescinded or overruled by a majority vote taken at a general meeting of the Association.
- 11.9 Every member may submit written representations to the National Committee on any matter, and the President shall determine in relation to each such submission whether it should be discussed at a National Committee meeting. The President may request the member making the written representations attend at a National Committee meeting in person to discuss the subject of the representation. Unless invited by the President no member shall have the right to attend or speak at a National Committee meeting.
- 11.10 The National Committee shall meet at such time and places as may be determined from time to time by it and in any event shall meet at least three times in each financial year.
- 11.11 The National Committee may appoint an executive subcommittee of its members and delegate to that subcommittee such of its functions as it sees fit.

12. DUTIES OF SECRETARY

- 12.1 The Secretary shall:
 - 12.1.1 convene and as far as possible, attend all meetings of the National Committee and of the Association;
 - 12.1.2 keep or cause to be kept as far as possible correct minutes of all meetings of the National Committee and Association;
 - on behalf of the National Committee prepare and submit to the Annual General Meeting a report of the affairs of the Association for the past year;
 - 12.1.4 subject to the direction of the President or the National Committee have general discretion to conduct correspondence of the Association;
 - 12.1.5 keep or cause to be kept full and complete records of the membership of the Association;
 - 12.1.6 send out or cause to be sent out notices of all National Committee meeting and general meetings of members in accordance with the requirements of these Rules; and

- 12.1.7 arrange for the postal ballot of the National Committee in accordance with Rule 17.7.
- 12.1.8 For the avoidance of doubt, any duties of the Secretary under these Rules (including Rule 17.7, but excluding under Rule 12.1.3) may be performed by the Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 14.5 below.

13. DUTIES OF THE TREASURER

13.1 The Treasurer shall:

- 13.1.1 be the financial officer of the Association and shall have under the authority of the National Committee custody of the funds of the Association;
- 13.1.2 keep or cause to be kept complete and proper records of all moneys received and disbursed by, or on behalf of, the Association and shall secure proper receipts for all moneys disbursed;
- 13.1.3 shall approve the payment of all accounts, to be subsequently ratified by the National Committee at the next meeting after such payment;
- 13.1.4 report the financial position of the Association to the Association whenever requested by the National Committee and shall submit to the Annual General Meeting of the Association a Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Statement for the past year both of which shall have been duly audited and certified to by the auditor for the time being;
- 13.1.5 ensure that all instruments for the payment of moneys by the Association are drawn in the name of the Association and that all cheques are signed by any members of the National Committee authorised from time to time by the National Committee for that purpose but failing such authorisation by the Treasurer and the Chairperson. All receipts for money paid or for property transferred or conveyed to the Association shall be signed by the Treasurer and such receipt shall be an effectual discharge for the money or other property therein stated to have been received; and
- 13.1.6 have power to receive and give receipts for all legacies, contributions, donations or other moneys bequeathed made or given to the Association.

14. EXECUTIVE OFFICER

- 14.1 If, in the opinion of the National Committee, the financial position of the Association permits, there may be an Executive Officer of the Association who shall be appointed by the National Committee for such term, at such remuneration and upon such conditions as it may think fit.
- 14.2 The National Committee shall have power to suspend or remove the Executive Officer.
- 14.3 The National Committee may vest in the Executive Officer such powers and authorities as it may from time to time determine and the Executive Officer shall exercise all such powers and authorities subject at all time to the control of the National Committee.

- 14.4 The Executive Officer shall not be a member of the National Committee but shall on the request of the National Committee attend its meetings and at the discretion of the National Committee, shall be heard on any matter but shall not be entitled to vote.
- 14.5 The Executive Officer shall if required by the National Committee also act as the Secretary.

15. AUDITOR

- 15.1 The National Committee may at its first meeting after the incorporation of the Association appoint an auditor who shall not be a member of the Association but who shall be a member of the New Zealand Society of Accountants. At each Annual General Meeting of the Association thereafter the members shall by resolution appoint an auditor who shall be a member of the New Zealand Society of Accountants.
- 15.2 Any remuneration for the auditor shall be determined by the National Committee.

16. GENERAL MEETINGS

- 16.1 The Association shall in each year hold a general meeting as its Annual General Meeting in addition to any other meetings in that year and shall specify the meeting as such in the notices calling it. Not more than 15 months shall elapse between the date of one Annual General Meeting of the Association and that of the next.
- The Annual General Meeting shall be held in September or October in each year, or during the Association's Annual Conference, at such time and place as the National Committee appoints provided that such meeting shall be held within seven months of the end of each financial year of the Association.
- 16.3 All general meetings other than Annual General Meetings shall be called Special General Meetings.
- 16.4 The National Committee may at any time convene a Special General Meeting of the Association and Special General Meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition signed by no fewer than thirty three per cent of the members of the Association. Any such requisition must state the general nature of the business to be brought forward and must be delivered to the Secretary.
- 16.5 Notices of Annual or Special Meetings of the Association shall be delivered to members by post not less than 14 days before the day fixed for the meeting and shall state the date, hour and place of the meeting. In the case of a Special General Meeting the notice shall also state the general nature of the business to be discussed. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to any member or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by any member shall not invalidate the proceedings of that meeting.
- Each member may appoint a proxy who may exercise the vote of the member. At any general meeting of the Association every member present either in person or by proxy shall be entitled to one vote. The instrument appointing a proxy (who must be a member) shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or his duly authorised attorney. Unless otherwise instructed in the proxy term, the proxy may vote as he thinks fit. The proxy shall be in the following format:

	Resource Management Law Association of New Zealand Incorporated
	I of
	being a member of the abovenamed Association, hereby appoint
	of
	(being a member of the Association) as my proxy to vote for me on my behalf at the Annual/Special (as the case may be) General Meeting of the Association to be held on the day of 1992, and at any adjournment thereof.
	This form is to be used in favour of/against the resolution that
	Unless otherwise instructed, I acknowledge that my proxy may vote as he/she sees fit.
	Signed thisday of1992.
Q	No husiness shall be conducted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is

- No business shall be conducted at any general meeting unless a quorum of members is present in person or by proxy at the time the meeting proceeds to business. A quorum is double the number of members presently on the National Committee plus one. If within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened upon a requisition of members shall be dissolved; in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day, time and place in the next week or to such other day, time or place as the National Committee shall determine and if at the adjourned meeting no quorum is present within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting the members present shall be deemed to be a quorum.
- 16.9 The President shall preside at any general meeting of the Association, or if he or she is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or is unwilling to act, the members present shall elect one of their number to be chairperson of the meeting.
- 16.10 At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided by a show of hands or by ballot if so requested by any member.
- 16.11 Questions arising at any general meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes and in case of an equality of votes, the President of the meeting shall be entitled to a casting vote in addition to his or her own deliberative vote.
- 16.12 A declaration of the President of the meeting that a resolution has been carried or lost shall be conclusive evidence of the fact.

16.13 For the purposes of securing the widest participation in the Association's activities and for carrying out its objects, the National Committee may from time to time by resolution invite representatives of any organisation or Government representative (Central, regional or local) or any other person to attend a general meeting and take part in all discussions.

17. POSTAL BALLOT

- 17.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Rules anything that may be done by the Association by resolution at a general meeting of the Association, subject to the provisions of the Incorporated Societies Act 1908 as modified or re-enacted from time to time, may be done by a resolution passed, without a meeting, by means of a postal ballot conducted in accordance with the provisions of this Rule 17.
- 17.2 Thirty three percent of the members of the Association may by written requisition require the National Committee to hold a postal ballot relating to any matter, in which case the National Committee will conduct a postal ballot in accordance with this Rule 17. Any such requisition must state the general nature of the business and must be delivered to the Secretary.
- 17.3 The National Committee shall appoint a returning officer, who shall not be a person who is personally interested in the outcome of the ballot, for the purposes of the conduct of the ballot.
- 17.4 Postal ballot papers shall be delivered by post, facsimile, or any other form of delivery specified by the appointed returning officer, to every member not less than 7 days before the date fixed for the return of the ballot papers and shall specify:
 - 17.4.1 the resolutions proposed and the method for indicating assent or dissent to the resolution;
 - 17.4.2 the date by which the ballot papers must be returned to the returning officer;
 - 17.4.3 the method by which the ballot papers may be returned to the returning officer; and
 - 17.4.4 such other information as the National Committee shall consider necessary or desirable.
- 17.5 The accidental omission to deliver ballot papers, late receipt of ballot papers or non-receipt of ballot papers by any member shall not invalidate the ballot.
- 17.6 Questions decided by ballot shall, unless otherwise specified in these rules, be decided by a majority of votes. The declaration of the returning officer that a resolution has been carried or lost shall be conclusive evidence of the fact.
- 17.7 If it is the opinion of the National Committee that National Committee members should be elected by postal ballot, then the provisions of this Rule shall apply. It shall be the responsibility of the Secretary to:
 - (a) Appoint a returning officer in accordance with Rule 17.3 for the purposes of the conduct of the ballot;

- (b) Call for nominations made in accordance with Rule 9.2.1, such nominations to include the area of the person nominated;
- (c) Receive nominations up to 15 working days after the notice calling for nominations has been sent out;
- (d) If nominations received are equal to or less than ten, then Rules 9.2.2 and 9.2.3 shall apply;
- (e) If there are more than ten nominations, send out ballot papers listing the nominations in alphabetical order and including the area from which those nominations have been made;
- (f) Ensure that the returning officer shall receive those ballot papers returned within 15 working days of their being sent;
- (g) Ensure that the returning officer provides the results of the election to the Secretary prior to the Annual General Meeting so that the results can be announced at that time.

18. COMMON SEAL

18.1 The Secretary shall provide for the safe custody of the common seal of the Association which shall only be used by the authority of and pursuant to a resolution duly passed by the National Committee and every instrument to which the common seal is affixed shall be signed by one member of the National Committee and countersigned by the Secretary or by a second member of the National Committee.

19. ALTERATION OF RULES

These Rules may, subject to the provisions of the Incorporated Societies Act 1908 or any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof, from time to time be altered, amended, added to or rescinded by a resolution passed by sixty-six percent of members present and entitled to vote at a general meeting of the Association. No alteration, addition or rescission of the Rules shall be valid until registered with the Registrar of Incorporated Societies. Notice of any intended alteration, amendment, addition or rescission must be made in writing and received by the Secretary not later than fourteen days prior to such meeting and a copy of such notice shall be posted or emailed by the Secretary to each member at the cost of the proposer not later than seven days prior to such meeting. No alteration, addition or rescission as aforesaid shall alter the charitable nature of the object of the Association.

20. WINDING UP

20.1 In the event of the Association being dissolved (whether voluntarily following the passing of a resolution requiring dissolution at a general meeting of its members or otherwise) any surplus assets after payment of all liabilities and liquidation costs and expenses shall be applied exclusively to charitable purposes within New Zealand in the manner specified by the National Committee.

Any such meeting to consider a resolution to dissolve the Association shall be a Special General Meeting. Any resolution to dissolve the Association submitted to such meeting shall be decided by a simple majority. A second Special General Meeting shall be called not earlier than 30 days after the first such Extraordinary General Meeting as aforesaid and a resolution to confirm the resolution to dissolve the Association shall be submitted to such meeting and shall be decided by a simple majority. In the event that the resolution to confirm the resolution to dissolve the Association is lost the resolution to dissolve the Association shall also be deemed to be lost. The procedure contained in this clause shall be followed except where it is inconsistent with the provisions of section 24 of the Incorporated Societies Act 1908 or any amendment or re-enactment thereof.

21. SERVICE OF NOTICES

21.1 A notice may be served by the Association on any member either personally or by sending it by facsimile transmission, electronic mail (e-mail) or through the post in a pre-paid envelope addressed to such member at his or her address as notified to the Secretary from time to time. A notice may be served by any member on the Association by delivery to the Secretary, by facsimile transmission or through the post in a pre-paid envelope addressed to the Association at the address notified by the National Committee from time to time. A notice sent by post shall be deemed to have been served three days after the day on which the envelope containing the same shall have been posted.

22. INDEMNITY

22.1 Every member of the National Committee, the Secretary, Treasurer, President, or other officer or servant of the Association shall be indemnified by the Association against all costs, losses and expenses which any such officer or servant may incur or become liable for any reason of any contract entered into or act or thing done by him as an officer or servant or in any way in the discharge of his or her duties provided that such actions are done in pursuant of the objects or interests of the Association and come within the express or implied authority of the person so acting.